IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1155

Florida Bar No. 184170

ARTHUR P. STRAHAN, Indiv.,)
and d/b/a STRAHAN MANAGEMENT,)
PATRICIA STRAHAN, Indiv., and)
d/b/a STRAHAN MANAGEMENT)
ARTHUR P. STRAHAN, JR.,)
Indiv., and STRAHAN MUSIC,)
INC.,)

Petitioners,)

VS.)

DEWEY L. GAULDIN,)

Respondent.)

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS

ARTHUR P. STRAHAN, Indiv., and d/b/a STRAHAN MANAGEMENT, PATRICIA STRAHAN, Indiv., d/b/a STRAHAN MANAGEMENT, ARTHUR P. STRAHAN, JR., Indiv., and STRAHAN MUSIC, INC.,

(With Appendix)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

A. Overview

Arthur Strahan, Jr. was in the process of loading a jukebox, when he could not hold onto it, the jukebox slid out of the truck, onto the sidewalk and injured the Plaintiff. Because there was no evidence of negligence, the judge instructed the jury it could infer the Defendant was negligent, under a res ipsa loquitur instruction. Clearly, since the judge believed there was no evidence of negligence presented at trial, a verdict should have been directed for Strahan, or at the very least, the jury should have weighed the evidence and come to its own conclusion, without the res ipsa instruction. Not surprisingly, after multiple negligence instructions, the jury found the Defendant negligent; it awarded almost \$200,000 in damages; and then the judge awarded the Plaintiff over \$145,000 in attorney's fees, under an invalid Proposal of Settlement.

The Decision in Strahan v. Gauldin, 756 So. 2d 158 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000)(A 1-5) is in direct and express conflict and misapplies the res ipsa loquitur law in this Court's decisions in McDougald v.

Perry, 716 So. 2d 783 (Fla. 1998); Marrero v. Goldsmith, 486 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 1986); City of New Smyrna Beach Utilities Commission v.

McWhorter, 418 So. 2d 261 (Fla. 1982); and Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. v. Hughes Supply, Inc., 358 So. 2d 1339 (Fla. 1978); holding that a res ipsa loquitur instruction should be used only in rare circumstances; like an accident involving an unattended flying

object; and where the plaintiff has demonstrated an inaccessibility to the evidence of how the occurrence happened. This jukebox case involves an ordinary negligence situation.

The jury was given <u>two</u> negligence instructions, followed by a concurrent cause instruction, which prejudicially overemphasized this aspect of the case, in direct and express conflict with this Court's holdings in <u>Lithgow Funeral Centers v. Loftin</u>, 60 So. 2d 745 (Fla. 1952) and <u>Dowling v. Loftin</u>, 72 So. 2d 283 (Fla. 1954).

Finally, in direct and express conflict with established Supreme Court law, the Fifth District affirmed an Offer of Judgment made in clear violation of Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.442 and TGI Friday's, Inc. v. Dvorak, 663 So. 2d 606 (Fla. 1995); which require that the provisions of Rule 1.442 must be strictly applied. The court found that an undifferentiated Offer to multiple offerees, i.e., all the Defendants, was still valid, even though Rule 1.442 requires an apportionment of the amounts as to each party. The court found that vicariously liable defendants are synonymous and unified with active tortfeasors, so it is impossible to comply with Rule 1.442 in these situations.

This Court has jurisdiction to resolve all the conflict and 1) quash the Fifth District's decision and order a new trial, without a res ipsa instruction; and/or 2) limit res ipsa cases to only one negligence instruction; and 3) void the Plaintiff's Offer of Judgment and enforce Rule 1.442 as written and intended.

B. Specific Facts

The Plaintiff's first witness was Dr. Alvarez, a neurologist, who saw him one time, seven years after the incident (T 155-158). He testified that the Plaintiff, a roofer, told him he was involved in an accident in October of 1991, when he was struck by a jukebox, which fell off a truck, which hit him on the right hip and hurled him against a wall, hitting his left shoulder and left hip (T 158). went to the emergency room the next day and the x-rays showed degenerative changes in his neck and a T4 compression fracture in his spine (T 158-159). He received no treatment in the emergency room and then subsequently went to a chiropractor and received no treatments for three years and then was treated six months before seeing the neurologist (T 159). The emergency room diagnosed the Plaintiff with a T4 thoracic compression fracture, slipped discs and degenerative changes at C4-5, 6-7 (T 173-174). He testified that the x-rays of the Plaintiff's spine looked like somebody who was 60 or 65 years old (T 198). He had very advanced degeneration from 1991 to 1998 (T 191-192). The doctor testified that the October 1, 1991 accident was a substantial contributing cause of the acceleration of the Plaintiff's preexisting degenerative changes in his neck (T 193-194). In addition, in the next 10-20 years the Plaintiff would need some type of neck surgery (T 193-194). The surgery could run anywhere from \$12,000 to \$30,000; and would not get rid of his pain, or make his neck normal (T 198). The doctor testified that the

Plaintiff would not need any follow-up studies or blood work and had to avoid activities where he could get hurt, or strenuous activities like lifting something heavy (T 200-201). He would need semi-annual or annual visits at \$50 to \$100 each and there was no medication to help him (T 201). The T4 condition was permanent and the Plaintiff had to avoid vigorous use of his arms, neck or shoulders (T 201-202). These restrictions would still allow him to work as a roofer (T 203). Dr. Alvarez found that the accident caused a aggravation of a preexisting condition and the Plaintiff would continue to have pain (T 204). The Plaintiff could not engage in his former occupation of body work or auto mechanic (T 204-205). Dr. Alvarez gave him a 15% permanency based on his herniated disc and 2% for his compression fracture (T 206-207).

On cross-examination, Dr. Alvarez testified that the Plaintiff did not complain of neck pain when he went to the ER, just of upper back pain; the ER records show the past history of neck injury from when the Plaintiff dove head first into the sand when he was 15; the diving accident did cause some degenerative change; but he thought these were made worse by the accident (T 213-229). He did not see any neck x-rays, or MRIs taken of the Plaintiff before the accident; the 1991 x-rays showed normal alignment of the spine, no fractures or subluxation, preexisting degenerative changes at C5-6; osteophyte formation; bilateral encroachment at C5-6; and the ER doctor could not determine if the T4 compression fracture was acute (recent) or

chronic (old); but Dr. Alvarez believed, 7½ years later, that he could state that in 1991, the T4 was acute and not chronic. In his report a month before trial, he too had found that the T4 compression fracture could have preexisted the accident, but changed his mind at trial. The Plaintiff had prior bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome related to a fall in 1976; in the early 1980's had surgery on both hands; he missed no work due to this alleged accident; he did not tell the doctor he had to sell his business because of the accident; he saw his first chiropractor off and on until April of 1992; he saw chiropractor, Ditinick, the following year in 1993; and had back pain after kicking in a door (T 213-229).

Dr. Ditinick's records did not reflect anything about any kind of an accident in 1991, nor any treatment for any accident (T 229). The Plaintiff treated with Dr. Ditinick for a year, then did not go back to see him again until 1998 (T 230).

Most of Dr. Alvarez's neurological exam of the Plaintiff was normal. Dr. Alvarez admitted that the Plaintiff's history of prolonged manual labor was consistent with the development of long standing degenerative changes (T 245). Dr. Alvarez testified that originally he had diagnosed the Plaintiff with lumbar strain due to the 1991 accident, but after further investigation decided it was probably related to him later kicking the door; and nothing related to any lumbar sprain to the October 1991 incident (T 250). He also could not relate any of the degenerative changes and complaints of

low back to the 1991 accident (T 251-252). Based on the history given by the Plaintiff, the doctor said his neck condition was aggravated by the 1991 accident (T 252-253).

The next witness was James Bailey, who described his job of working along with the Plaintiff in spraying polyurethane on roofs and the process that was involved (T 279-286). The Plaintiff was the salesman for the roofing business; which he sold in 1992, the year after the incident (T 288-289). On October 1, 1991, he and the Plaintiff went out to Beach Shack in Cocoa Beach; because the roof was leaking (T 290). They had been up on the roof and could not find anything wrong, so they stood on the sidewalk examining the walls (T 290). A man was loading a jukebox on to a pick-up truck by himself and he and the Plaintiff asked him if he needed help, but he said no (T 290-291). They continued looking at the wall and out of the corner of his eye, he saw the jukebox falling and he got out of the way and he tried to grab the Plaintiff and get him out of the way, as well (T 291). The jukebox fell out of the truck and hit the Plaintiff in the right hip area knocking him against the wall (T 291). He asked the Plaintiff if he was okay and he said he was alright (T 292). They continued to work that day and a few days afterwards, he saw a large bruise on his hip and took a picture of it at the Plaintiff's request (T 292). Bailey testified that the Plaintiff's business had decreased from 1990 to 1991 because of his divorce, which made the Plaintiff depressed (T 293). Bailey was not

aware of any medical care or treatment that the Plaintiff received due to the accident in October of 1991 (T 293-294). Gauldin never told Bailey that he had to sell the business due to any injuries from the 1991 jukebox incident (T 301-302). After the accident, they did not talk to the manager of Beach Shack, did not fill out any incident reports; they did not call the police to file an auto accident report; and they continued to work every day thereafter (T 305-306). Bailey also did not tell the Defendant that the jukebox had hit the Plaintiff (T 307).

Gauldin moved to Florida in the early 1980's, he learned to become a roofer and he and his father started their own business in 1985 (T 328-329). The Plaintiff sold his business in 1992 for \$6,500, even though he paid \$25,000 for this equipment (T 346-347). He started a whole new business six months later doing regular roofing (T 347-348). In 1991, the year of the incident, his net profit dropped from \$13,342 to \$5,205 (T 352). He clarified the fact that the drop to \$5,205 was due to his divorce and not the accident; and his divorce devastated him (T 352-353).

He too described the accident and the fact that Mr. Strahan was putting the jukebox on the lift gate of the pick-up truck and they asked him if he needed some help and he said no. The Defendant put the jukebox on the lift, pulled it into the back of the pick-up truck and then the Plaintiff did not hear, or notice anything, because he was looking at cracks in the wall for leaks (T 354). Bailey pulled

him out of the way of the jukebox, when it fell out of the back of the pick-up truck; the jukebox caught him on the right hip hitting him pretty hard and shoved him into the concrete wall, but he did not fall (T 355). Gauldin said that Bailey had been trying to stop the jukebox from falling on to the hood of a car and after he was hit by the jukebox, he told Bailey he felt a little weird, but he did not think he was hurt (T 356).

The Plaintiff's testimony was interrupted to present the testimony of Dr. Ditinick, who began treating the Plaintiff in March of 1993 for low back pain, due to him kicking a door (T 374-375). The doctor adjusted the Plaintiff's back, put a lift in his shoe and began treating him later for neck pain and not low back (T 377-378). The doctor found a severe degenerative cervical disc condition in his neck, starting at C2-3 and continuing through 6-7 (T 379-381). He had spurring and retrolisthesis and his exam found far more degenerative changes than the limited ones the Plaintiff had in October of 1991 (T 382-386). The doctor gave him a permanent impairment of 20% of the whole body, with 15% related to the neck and 5% to the low back (T 391-392).

On cross-examination, the doctor admitted that the Plaintiff never gave him any history regarding any jukebox incident and agreed that the first two visits were for Gauldin's low back injury condition and were not in any way related to the 1991 accident (T 398). When the Plaintiff came back in March of 1993 complaining

of neck pain, he still said nothing about the 1991 jukebox accident (T 399-400). Gauldin also did not tell Dr. Ditinick about any compression fracture in his mid-back, nor did he have any mid-back complaints (T 401). The doctor testified that the cervical and lumbar spine x-rays showed advanced degenerative changes and again admitted that the only history, the Plaintiff gave him, was kicking the door (T 404). Dr. Ditinick testified that the heavy manual labor, like roofing could cause these advanced degenerative changes and continued stress on the spine would make the progression of the changes increase (T 405-406). The Plaintiff came back to see Dr. Ditinick three and a half years later in May of 1998; again, he still did not tell the doctor about being hit by the jukebox (T 407). He had no neck pain, just standard low back pain (T 408). However, the doctor testified that all of his treatment of the Plaintiff in 1998 was related to the 1991 jukebox incident (T 410).

The trial continued with the direct exam of the Plaintiff. He described how weird he felt after being hit by the jukebox; the tremendous pain he had all over his body; the visit to the ER; his treatment with Dr. Kirchofer; difficulty in working; and while he attributed selling his business to his divorce, he also said that he had to sell his business because he could not foam spray anymore and he had to let Mr. Bailey do that work (T 418-422). He testified his condition was deteriorating all along, especially from 1993 to 1997, when he went to Orlando to find out what was going on with his back

and his neck (T 426). Due to the various diagnostic testing done and other testing he had to forego to work in the Bahamas (T 426-428). The Plaintiff went to see Dr. Seig, the defense IME, which scared him to death (T 428-429). Recreationally, he likes to hunt, play golf and ride in his airboat (T 439).

Next, Dr. Seig testified, out of turn, describing his background as an orthopedic surgeon, frequency of doing compulsory physical exams, his litigation history; and described the Plaintiff's history of being hit on the right side by a jukebox, which knocked him into a wall (T 450-464). The Plaintiff had been treated by two chiropractors with no significant improvement and he received no treatment from any other physicians (T 464). Even though his condition improved to a large extent after the accident, there has been no significant change in his condition for the past two years (T 465-466). The doctor described his physical exam of the Plaintiff; discussed the x-rays he took of the Plaintiff on the day of the exam; and his finding that the condition of the Plaintiff's neck demonstrated degenerative changes of a long-standing type nature (T 468-478). The T4 fracture also appeared to be either a congenital abnormality, or an old fracture (T 475). The progression of the degenerative changes seen in the Plaintiff could be do to his long history of repetitive trauma, such as heavy manual labor, which also causes arthritis to increase faster (T 478-480). It was improbable that the 1991 incident aggravated the Plaintiff's preexisting carpal

tunnel syndrome (T 484-485); the T4 compression fracture was an old condition and not related to the 1991 incident, because he did not have symptoms to indicate an acute or new fracture at the time of the 1991 incident, or in the ER (T 485-486). The third diagnosis was advanced degenerative disc disease, with a soft-tissue sprain or strain of the neck, superimposed on this preexisting degenerative disc disease (T 486). The future treatment for the Plaintiff would include use of anti-inflammatories, cervical traction, heating pads, etc., because his degenerative disc disease is progressive (T 488). He had no findings that there are any indication of any type of surgical intervention due to the 1991 accident; it was medically improbable that the 1991 jukebox incident produced a permanent injury in the Plaintiff, nor was a significant factor in him developing degenerative disc disease (T 489-490).

On cross-examination, Dr. Seig testified there was nothing showing any neck problem before October 1, 1991 in the Plaintiff; Gauldin had been a roofer doing heavy work from 1983-1991, but only had degeneration at C5-6 so his work was not tearing up his neck. He testified that severe upper thoracic pain was consistent with a fresh compression fracture, which would be a permanent injury; and the Plaintiff's degenerative neck condition was permanent (T 501-502).

The testimony of Dewey Gauldin continued with the defense cross-examination (T 529). Like Bailey, he testified that at the time of the incident in 1991 he filled out no report; did not call

the police; had no one take any statements; and said he did not see the jukebox start to fall from the back of the pick-up (T 529-531). He was impeached with his deposition testimony explaining the accident:

...(Gauldin) "No. I saw what happened. He (Strahan) slipped in the back of the greasy truck, fell down and that is what shoved the jukebox out."

(T 532).

He again testified in his best year ever, his take home pay was \$12,399, which was in 1990 when he got divorced (T 532-534). He continued to work after the jukebox incident; and in the past two years he had earned approximately \$30,000, making triple what he had prior to the accident (T 534-537). He admitted that up to six months before trial, he had been airboating a couple of times a week, hunting, fishing, he was able to bend over, to work, to do his roof job and he could carry up to 40 or 50 pounds (T 537-538). He got in and out his truck, went up and down ladders, did different roofing jobs, shoveled, etc. (T 538-540). He admitted he did not tell his treating physicians about the jukebox incident (T 541-542).

The Defendant, Arthur Strahan, testified on the day in question he was doing independent contractor work for his father, in the music and coin operated equipment business (T 556-557). He had gone out to the Beach Shack to swap one jukebox for another. He had already taken one into the store and was hauling another one out (T 557). He testified that the jukebox was about four feet high and weighed about

250 pounds and he rolled the jukebox out to put it on the lift of his truck (T 557-559). The truck was approximately two and a half to three feet from the ground and the lift was out on the sidewalk There was no apparatus to hold the jukebox during the lifting (T 560-561). The Defendant put the jukebox on the lift, raised the lift and manually attempted to pull the jukebox into the bed of the truck (T 561-562). There were two handles in the back of the jukebox and he was pulling on one side first, because he wanted to back it against the driver's side so he could strap it in (T 562). He had done this maneuver approximately 20 times before; and he did not recall anyone asking him if he needed help (T 562-563). handled the job himself, so the jukebox was in his exclusive control and when he went to rotate the jukebox, for some reason, the bottom kicked out (T 563-564). On the outer deck there was a tracking surface and when the jukebox got to the smoother surface, this might have allowed the bottom to kick out; and he tried to drop it back, to balance it and he could not hold the jukebox with one hand, so he had to let go of it (T 564). Something in the manner he moved the jukebox made it get out from his control and caused it to fall; and the Plaintiff did not do anything to contribute to the way the jukebox fell out of the truck (T 565).

On cross-examination, Mr. Strahan testified that he moved big pieces of equipment like dryers and jukeboxes several times a day and nothing had ever fallen off his pick-up truck before and he had never

had any problems putting things on and off the lift gate (T 568-569). He never seen a lift gate with a tie down device on it and that what happened with the jukebox was sudden and unexpected (T 569). After the incident, nobody came up to him to tell him that the jukebox had squashed the Plaintiff; Bailey and the Plaintiff were just milling around; no one spoke to him at all after the jukebox came crashing down; the manager did not ask him to do an incident report; and virtually nothing happened (T 571-572). He then testified that when the jukebox fell out of the truck it did not hit the car next to it, but just ended up resting on the rubber bumper of the fender (T 573). After the reading of the mortality tables, the Plaintiff rested (T 577).

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