IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC-00-1155 L.T. CASE NO. 99-230 & 99-874

ARTHUR P. STRAHAN, Individually a n d d / b / a S T R A H A N MANAGEMENT, et al.,

Petitioners,

-VS-

DEWEY L. GAULDIN,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

KNUDSON & McGREAL, P.A. 1824 S. Fiske Blvd., Suite 2 Rockledge, FL 32955 and CARUSO, BURLINGTON, BOHN & COMPIANI, P.A. Suite 3A/Barristers Bldg. 1615 Forum Place West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Tel: (561) 686-8010 Attorneys for Respondent **

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

are estopped to complain for the first time on appeal that the instructions set forth different standards for finding Defendants negligent.

C. Plaintiff's Offer of Judgment Was Valid

Defendants' argument that Plaintiff's Offer of Judgment was void because it "did not list how much money was to be paid by each Defendant" has no merit. Both sides agreed below that Strahan, Jr. was the only party actively negligent, and that all other Defendants were vicariously liable only for his negligence. For example, Plaintiff's Amended Complaint alleged that Strahan, Jr. was an agent or employee of the other Defendants, and that he had been acting within the scope and course of his employment in loading the jukebox onto the pick-up truck that was owned by Defendants (R1 45-46). Defendants' Answer admitted that Strahan, Jr. was acting within the scope and course of his employment at the time of the accident (R1 60). Defendants' Pretrial Stipulation agreed that only the negligence of Strahan, Jr. need be determined by the jury (R2 199), and also agreed that Defendants owned the truck (R2 198). Plaintiff and all Defendants had an equal number of peremptory challenges indicating that all Defendants were treated as one party (R2 385;SR729). The parties agreed for the jury to be instructed that the other Defendants were vicariously liable for Strahan, Jr.'s negligence in loading the jukebox onto the truck, and that if Strahan, Jr. was not negligent, none of the Defendants were liable (SR719-20). The parties also agreed on a verdict form which asked the jury to only determine the negligence of Strahan, Jr. (R9 635-36,726;SR731-34). Post verdict, the parties agreed the judgment could be entered against all Defendants jointly and severally (SR730).

At the attorney's fee hearing, the trial judge confirmed that both sides had agreed pretrial, during trial and post-trial that no one except Strahan, Jr. was actively negligent, and that the other Defendants were vicariously liable only for his negligence (SR726-35,770-72). Accordingly, the judge concluded that there would have been no way to allocate an offer of judgment between the Defendants because, as the parties had agreed, if Strahan, Jr. was liable, the other Defendants were equally liable (SR772). The judge properly concluded that requiring apportionment of an offer of judgment between different defendants did not apply to vicarious liable defendants, as here (SR772).

The trial judge's reasoning was correct. Plaintiff's Offer of Judgment was valid under both §768.79, Fla. Stat. and Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.442. In CROWLEY v. SUNNY'S PLANTS, INC., 710 So.2d 219 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), the Third District held that a joint offer of judgment to two defendants was valid where they were both represented by the same attorney, one defendant was vicariously liable for the other defendant and there was no conflict of interest between the defendants and their insurance companies. The Court stated (710 So.2d at 220-21):

Joint offers of judgment by, or to, two or more defendants are valid. See Bodek v. Gulliver Academy, Inc., 702 So.2d 1331, 1332 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997). Even though the Crowleys' offers of judgment did not

name Sunny's and Perez individually, the general offers made to the defendants were valid under §768.79. See id. Both these defendants were represented by the same attorney; there was no conflict of interest between the defendants and the insurance company representing both defendants. In fact, the insurance company was paying if either defendant was held liable. Furthermore, Sunny's and Perez were jointly and severally liable for any judgment when the offers were made; Sunny's was vicariously liable for the fault attributable to Perez.

As in CROWLEY, here the Defendants were represented by the same attorney and there was no conflict of interest between them because everyone agreed that all the other Defendants were vicariously liable for the fault attributed to Strahan, Jr.

Following CROWLEY, the Fourth District held that an undifferentiated offer by two plaintiffs to two defendants, where one was vicariously liable for the other's negligence, was valid. SAFELITE GLASS CORP. v. SAMUEL, 771 So.2d 44 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). The Court stated that Rule 1.442(c)(3), which requires that a "joint proposal shall state the amount and terms attributable to each party" was designed to obviate future conflicts as to the effect of an offer upon offerees. The Court found no detriment to the Defendant-offerees in that case since one was vicariously liable for the other. The Court stated (<u>Id</u>. at 45-46):

The defendant/offerees in this case were not joint tortfeasors with potentially different degrees of fault and competing interests. ...This was not a case where the tortfeasors were entitled to evaluate the offer independently based on "their individual liability situations. ...Safelite was vicariously liable for Haughton's negligence. Both defendants had the same lawyer. The offer's lack of apportionment between Safelite and Haughton did not prevent a meaningful evaluation of the offer. ...There was no harmful error in the proposal's failure to allocate damages between two defendants whose interests were so unified under a theory of vicarious liability.

The Fourth District also found that it was irrelevant that the plaintiffs did not specify the division of damages between themselves in their offer. The Court saw the lack of such apportionment as "a matter of indifference" to the defendants. It was not an obstacle to settlement for the vicariously liable defendants, because if they accepted the offer, they were entitled to be released by both plaintiffs. Judge Polen wrote a concurring opinion, which stated (<u>Id</u>. at 46):

As the committee notes to rule 1.442(c)(3) reveal, the rule was enacted to conform with *Fabre v. Marin*, 623 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 1993), which deals with dividing the exposure of various joint tortfeasors based on their respective percentages of fault. As amended, the joint proposal requirements allow one of several joint tortfeasors to independently evaluate the offer based on that tortfeasor's individual liability before deciding whether to accept same. It, thus follows that failure to follow the joint proposal requirements of this rule is "a harmless technical violation" as to those defendants like Safelite and Haughton in the present case, who are not joint tortfeasors...

Likewise, in DANNER CONSTRUCTION CO. v. REYNOLDS METALS

CO., 760 So.2d 199 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000), the Second District held that a joint offer

of judgment by two vicariously liable defendants was valid, stating (Id. at 202):

...[w]e conclude that where a joint offer is made by the defendants in a case, the failure to specify the amount to be contributed by each may be harmless if the theory for the two defendants' joint liability does not allow for apportionment under section 768.81, Florida Statutes (1997). This circumstance typically exists in cases where one defendant is vicariously liable for the negligence of another.

The above cases apply here where Defendants' liability could not be apportioned between them, since all the other Defendants were vicariously liable for Strahan, Jr.

Two cases provide a good illustration of why an undifferentiated offer is invalid where the defendants have separate liability, unlike here, TWIDDY v. GUTTENPLAN, 678 So.2d 488 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996) and C&S CHEMICALS, INC. v. McDOUGALD, 754 So.2d 795 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000). In TWIDDY, a joint offer made by two defendants with separate liability made to a single plaintiff was held invalid. The joint offer made it impossible to determine the amount attributable to each defendant in order to determine whether the judgment against each defendant was 25% less than each defendant's offer. C&S held that an undifferentiated offer by a plaintiff to two defendants with separate liability was invalid, because the lack of apportionment between the offerees prevents them from evaluating the offer independently based upon their individual liability situations. Here, unlike TWIDDY and C&S CHEMICALS, since the other Defendants' only liability was vicarious liability for Strahan, Jr., they had no "individual liability situations" that required them to evaluate the offer independently.

The cases relied upon by Defendants, SPRUCE CREEK DEV. CO. OF OCALA, INC. v. DREW, 746 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), UNITED SERVICES AUTOMOTIVE ASSOCIATION v. BEHAR, 752 So.2d 663 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000),

and FLIGHT EXPRESS v. ROBINSON, 736 So.2d 796 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999) either support Plaintiff's position or they are distinguishable. FLIGHT EXPRESS held that a joint offer by two defendants to a single plaintiff was valid. The Court reasoned that while there is good reason to require a division of amounts to be paid to each of several offerees in a settlement proposal, the amount which each of several offerors contributes to the proposed settlement can make no difference to the offeree or otherwise affect its efficacy in any practical way. Although the 1996 amendment to Rule 1.442(c)(3) did not apply to the offer made in FLIGHT EXPRESS, the Court referenced the amended rule in a footnote and cited the committee note explaining that the amendment was enacted "to conform with FABRE v. MARIN, 623 So.2d 1182 (Fla, 1993) which deals with dividing the exposure of various parties based on their respective percentages of fault." FLIGHT EXPRESS, 736 So.2d at 797 n.1. Thus, the court concluded, the amended rule is designed to obviate future conflicts as to the effect of an offer upon defendants-offerees and, therefore, "failure to follow the rule as to offerors must be considered merely a harmless technical violation which did not affect the rights of the parties." Id.

In SPRUCE CREEK, a joint and unapportioned offer of judgment was made by two plaintiffs to a single defendant. The Fifth District reversed the trial court's ruling that the offer was void for having failed to separate the offer for each plaintiff. Citing to FLIGHT EXPRESS, the Court reasoned that "[t]he lack of apportionment between claimants is a matter of indifference to the defendant. If he accepts, he is entitled to be released by both claimants." 746 So.2d at 1116.

BEHAR is distinguishable because it involved a joint offer made by a defendant to a husband and his wife, who had a consortium claim. Since that claim is a separate and distinct claim from that of the husband, the offer was invalid. ALLSTATE INDEMNITY CO. v. HENGSON, 25 Fla.L.Weekly D2431 (2d DCA October 11, 2000) held likewise.

Defendants' reliance upon McFARLAND & SON, INC. v. BASEL, 727 So.2d 266 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999) is also misplaced. That case involved multiple defendants who had separate liability. The plaintiff sued a driver for negligent operation of his employer's 18-wheel car carrier. He sued the employer not only for its vicarious liability for the driver's negligence, but also for its own independent negligence in hiring, training and supervising the driver. Additionally, plaintiff sued the estate of the negligent driver of the vehicle in which he was riding. The Fifth District found that the plaintiff's undifferentiated offer of judgment to all defendants was invalid. The Court noted that Rule 1.442(c)(3) was amended in 1996 to conform to FABRE v. MARIN, supra, which dealt with dividing the exposure of defendants with separate liability according to their respective percentages of fault. Since each of the defendants in that case were separately liable, the lack of apportionment made it impossible to evaluate the offer as to each defendant based on their different liability situations.

The very purpose expressed by the Fifth District for requiring an offer to set forth an amount tied to each particular defendant's separate liability does not apply here, where the defendants have no separate liability. There was no basis upon which the Plaintiff could allocate a portion of a settlement offer to the Defendants who are vicariously liable only. For that reason, the Fifth District in the present case distinguished its prior McFARLAND decision, stating:

We do not agree with the Strahans that *McFarland* controls the result in this case. An important difference between *McFarland* and the instant case is that in *McFarland*, liability, pursuant to the allegations of the complaint, could be allocated on the basis of fault among each of the defendants. In *McFarland*, there were separate issues relating to the negligence of each [defendant].... In contrast, the complaint in the instant case alleged only the negligent act of Arthur P. Strahan, Jr. The other defendants were included in the complaint only under theories of vicarious liability. Unlike the plaintiff in *McFarland*, Gauldin could not logically apportion his offer among the Strahans because each of the individual defendants were liable for the entire amount of damages. Because of that joint and several liability, none of the individual defendants were adversely affected by the joint offer....

Neither FLIGHT EXPRESS, SPRUCE CREEK, BEHAR nor McFARLAND

concerned the situation presented here – a joint offer to multiple defendants with vicarious liability, rather than separate liability. The Fifth District correctly held that a joint offer to vicariously liable defendants is valid, in line with CROWLEY, SAFELITE GLASS and DANNER CONSTRUCTION, <u>supra</u>.

The only error the Fifth District made in ruling on the offer of judgment issue was in concluding that a multiplier was not appropriate. The Court found that there was an absence of proof that the relevant market required a multiplier. The Court obviously overlooked the fact that the <u>experts for both sides</u> agreed that a multiplier was appropriate in this case, thus obviating any requirement that Plaintiff present evidence justifying the use of a multiplier (SR758-59,797). Since Defendants' expert agreed below that a multiplier was appropriate, Defendants were bound by that testimony and estopped to claim otherwise. BEHM v. D.O.T., 292 So.2d 437, 440 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974), <u>approved</u> 336 So.2d 579. Defendants raised for the first time on appeal that a multiplier was not appropriate, and the Fifth District ignored case law that is legion that an issue not preserved below cannot be raised on appeal. MURPHY v. CITY OF PORT ST. LUCIE, 666 So.2d 879 (Fla. 1995); McGURN v. SCOTT, 596 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 1992); CLARK v. DPR, 463 So.2d 328 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985); SPARTA STATE BANK v. PAPE, 477 So.2d 3 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985).

Moreover, implicit in the opinion of both experts that a multiplier was appropriate was that all factors, including a relevant market need for a multiplier, existed in this case. The experts did not have to explain the factors supporting their opinion that a multiplier was appropriate, since the Evidence Code allows them to render an opinion on an ultimate issue of fact without having to provide the underlying basis therefor, unless specifically asked. §§90.705 Fla. Stat. Here, since both experts agreed that a multiplier was appropriate, they obviously also agreed that the relevant market required a multiplier in order to obtain competent counsel. Defendants did not

cross-examine Plaintiff's expert about the basis for his opinion that a multiplier was appropriate, since their own expert agreed that a multiplier was appropriate. The only issue the judge had to decide was the size of the multiplier, in light of the 1.5 to 2.0 range agreed to by both parties' experts.

The Fifth District should have at least remanded the attorney's fee issue so that Plaintiff would have an opportunity to present evidence to justify a multiplier, since it was agreed to by Defendants below and attacked for the first time on appeal.

POINT II

THE JURY'S VERDICT WAS NOT CONTRARY TO THE MANIFEST WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

There is no merit to Defendants' contention that the jury's verdict was contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. The experts on both sides agreed that Plaintiff had three levels of collapsed discs in his neck, and a compression fracture in his back. They simply disagreed on whether the accident caused those conditions. Plaintiff's experts testified that x-rays taken at the time of the 1991 accident showed that the effect of Plaintiff's 21 years of heavy labor was only mild degenerative changes at one level, C5-6. Seventeen months later, Plaintiff's condition had progressed to the final stages of disc degeneration at three levels, which Plaintiff's experts said could only have been caused by the accident. Defendants' experts simply disagreed. Based on this conflicting testimony, the issue of causation was for the jury. HUNT v. PALM SPRINGS GENERAL HOSPITAL, 352 So.2d 582 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977).

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